RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Dec 22, 2014, 4:58 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

47668-1

The Supreme Court RECEIVED BY E-M of the State of Washington

ECEIVED BY E-MAIL

Stephen Chriss Johnson,

Appellant,

v.

State of Washington Department of Licensing and Pat Kohler, in her official capacity,

Respondents.

Brief of Appellant

Kevin Hochhalter Attorney for Appellant

Cushman Law Offices, P.S. 924 Capitol Way South Olympia, WA 98501 360-534-9183 WSBA # 43124

1. Introduction

On June 1, 2013¹, the Department of Licensing lost all authority to suspend driver's licenses for failure to pay traffic fines for non-moving violations. On that date, all *prior* non-moving violation failure to pay suspensions should have ended because these suspensions were no longer authorized. However, the Department has refused to release any prior suspensions until the fines are paid in full.

The Department is acting outside its jurisdiction by maintaining these suspensions. As a result, tens or hundreds of thousands of Washington drivers are suffering under the burden of suspension when they should be free to drive.² This is a serious deprivation of liberty in our modern society, where driving has become a necessity. "Losing one's driver's license is more serious for some individuals than a brief stay in jail." *Argersinger v. Hamlin*, 407 U.S. 25, 48, 92 S.Ct. 2006, 32 L.Ed.2d 530 (1972) (Powell, J., concurring).

Suspension takes a terrible toll on these drivers, who are invariably poor.³ Without a license, they are often left with no way to legally commute

The effective date of ESSB 6284 (Laws of 2012, ch. 82).

The number cannot be known without analyzing the Department's records.

American Civil Liberties Union, In for a Penny: The Rise of America's New Debtor's Prisons, p. 65 (October 2010) available at http://www.aclu.org/files/assets/InForAPenny_web.pdf (last visited March 28, 2014);

Alicia Bannon, et al., Criminal Justice Debt: a Barrier to Reentry, Brennan Center for Justice at New York University School of Law, p. 5, 13, 27 (October 2010), available at http://www.brennancenter.org/sites/default/files/legacy/Fees%20and%20Fines%20FINAL.pdf (last visited March 31, 2014);

to their places of employment, particularly in rural and other areas where public transportation is insufficient or nonexistent. Many lose their jobs.⁴

Driving is a requirement for participating in the modern workforce.⁵
"For many, if you cannot drive, you cannot work. If you cannot work, you cannot make money. If you cannot make money, more likely than not, you cannot pay fines for tickets." Indigent drivers are left with the dilemma of either 1) accepting the suspension, forgoing employment, joining the welfare rolls, and never being able to pay off their fines or get their license back; or 2) driving while suspended and facing the threat of criminal penalties in order to provide for themselves and their families and possibly manage to pay their fines in full.

Katherine Beckett, et al., The Assessment and Consequences of Legal Financial Obligations in Washington State, Washington State Minority and Justice Commission, pp. 3-5 (August 2008) available at http://www.courts.wa.gov/committee/pdf/2008LFO_report.pdf (last visited July 24, 2012);

Alexes Harris, et al., Drawing Blood from Stones: Legal Debt and Social Inequality in the Contemporary United States, American Journal of Sociology, vol. 115 no. 6, p. 1777 (May 2010) available at http://www.soc.washington.edu/users/yharris/Blood%20 from%20Stones%202010%20AJSj%20print.pdf (last visited July 24, 2012).

John B. Mitchell & Kelly Kunsch, Of Driver's Licenses and Debtor's Prison, 4 Seattle J. Soc. Just. 439, 459 (2005), available at http://digitalcommons.law.seattleu.edu/sjsj/vol4/iss1/44 (last visited March 28, 2014).

Sandra Gustitus, et al., Access to Driving and License Suspension Policies for the Twenty-First Century Economy, The Mobility Agenda, p. 9 (June 2008) available at http://www.mobilityagenda.org/home/file.axd?file= 2008%2f9%2fDLPaperforinternet.pdf (last visited March 28, 2014).

⁵ Id, at 4-5;

⁶ Mitchell, at 459-60.

Many indigent drivers choose the latter.⁷ It is only a matter of time, then, before the indigent driver is arrested for DWLS, convicted, jailed, and saddled with additional fines they will not be able to pay. Upon release from jail, the cycle continues. The indigent driver now has a criminal record, making it even more difficult to find work. Their license is still suspended, leaving them at risk of repeat DWLS offenses. Interest has accrued on top of their fines, which were not cleared or reduced through time in jail. They still need to earn an income, so they take the risk and drive. Repeat offenses generally bring increased penalties. The cycle of debt, suspension, and incarceration continues with little to no hope of escape.

This cycle is exactly what ESSB 6284 (Laws of 2012, ch. 82) was designed to remedy. The bill's primary sponsor and chair of the Judiciary Committee, Senator Adam Kline, explained the purpose of the bill:

Failure to be able to pay—in my neighborhood we call it "driving while poor"—it's that that we're trying to get at. ... We're going to save the taxpayers a bundle and ... make it safe for people who don't have a whole lot of money, to drive. ... People will be able to get to work to earn the money to pay the doggone fine.⁸

Gustitus, at 9;

Austin Jenkins, Northwest News Network, Nearly 300,000 Wash. drivers suspended for failure to pay tickets, KPLU radio broadcast (12:13 p.m., July 23, 2011) available at http://www.kplu.org/post/nearly-300000-wash-drivers-suspended-failure-paytickets (last visited March 24, 2014).

Senate Judiciary Committee, Jan. 25, 2012, at 00:25:10, available at http://www.tvw.org/index.php?option=com_tvwplayer&eventID=2012010169#start=1013&stop=2100 (last visited May 9, 2014).

The purpose of the Act was to end nonmoving violation suspensions and get people their licenses back. This purpose could only be accomplished if former suspensions for failure to pay arising from nonmoving violations came to an end on the effective date of the Act.

The Department's refusal to recognize the legislature's purpose and to reinstate the licenses of drivers previously suspended for failure to pay fines arising from non-moving violations is causing significant harm to hundreds of thousands of Washington drivers every day. This case seeks to remedy, through a class action and writ of prohibition, the Department's continuing, unauthorized suspension of driver's licenses for failure to pay after the effective date of the Act.

2. Assignments of Error

1. The superior court erred in granting the Department's motion for summary judgment dismissal of the petition for writ of prohibition.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

Whether, under Laws of 2012, ch. 82, the Department of Licensing is without jurisdiction to maintain a driver's license suspension for failure to pay a traffic fine for a non-moving violation that was originally imposed prior to the effective date of the Act (assignment of error #1).

Whether the Department of Licensing is without jurisdiction to suspend driver's licenses for failure to pay a criminal traffic fine (assignment of error #1).

3. Statement of the Case

Stephen Johnson's driver's license is subject to two, separate suspensions. The first, initiated November 1, 2007, was for failure to pay a fine for the infraction of no valid license, a nonmoving violation. CP 29-30. The second, initiated November 12, 2009, was for failure to pay a fine for the crime of driving while license suspended, in the third degree. *Id.*

In 2012, the legislature passed ESSB 6284 (Laws of 2012, ch. 82, referred to hereafter as "the Act"), which amended the statutes related to suspension of driver's licenses, with an effective date of June 1, 2013. CP 9-15. The Act removed some or all of the Department of Licensing's former authority to suspend a driver's license for failure to pay a fine. CP 4, 18, 43:25-26. In light of the amendments, Johnson requested the Department of Licensing reinstate his license. CP 7. The Department refused, stating that it would not release any suspensions imposed prior to the effective date of the Act. CP 18.

Johnson petitioned Thurston County Superior Court for a writ of prohibition, on behalf of himself and all similarly situated people, to prohibit the Department from maintaining prior failure to pay suspensions after the Act terminated the Department's authority to suspend. CP 4.

Johnson also requested an award of damages under RCW 7.16.260. CP 5.

Johnson moved for certification of a class action under CR 23. See VRP, Sept. 13, 2013, at 3. The proposed class would have consisted of all Washington-licensed drivers whose licenses have been in a suspended status at any time after June 1, 2013 (the effective date of the Act), for failure to

respond, appear, comply, or pay for a nonmoving violation or for failure to pay a criminal traffic fine. The class would include drivers whose suspensions were imposed prior to June 1, 2013, if those suspensions were still in effect after June 1, 2013. The size of the class is unknown; it is a subset of the approximately 300,000 Washington drivers whose licenses are currently suspended for failure to pay.

The Department simultaneously moved to stay the case pending this Court's decision in *State v. Johnson*, 179 Wn.2d 534, 315 P.3d 1090 (2014). *See* VRP, Sept. 13, 2013, at 3. The superior court stayed the case and did not address Johnson's motion to certify a class action. VRP, Sept. 13, 2013, at 8-9.

After this Court issued its Opinion in *State u Johnson*, the Department moved in this case for summary judgment dismissal. CP 37. The Department conceded that the Act ended its authority to suspend for failure to pay a fine for a non-moving violation (*E.g.*, CP 37, 40:3-4), but argued that the Act did not obligate the Department to release suspensions that were originally imposed prior to the effective date of the Act (*E.g.*, CP 37). The Department framed its argument in terms of whether the Act could operate retroactively or only prospectively. CP 45-47. The Department also argued, as alternative

The details of the proposed class action are part of the superior court record. However, those pleadings were not called to the attention of the court in the Department's motion for summary judgment and, pursuant to RAP 9.12, are not part of the record before this Court. Appellant provides these details as procedural history, to give this Court the full context of the case.

grounds for dismissal, that Johnson was properly suspended for failure to pay his criminal fine for DWLS 3rd. CP 47-48.

In response, Johnson argued that the Act's amendments were remedial and therefore applied retroactively to terminate prior suspensions. CP 102-04. Johnson also argued that, even if the Act were prospective only, the Department could not continue prior, coercive suspensions that it was no longer authorized to initiate; all failure to pay¹⁰ suspensions for non-moving violations should have ended on June 1, 2013, when the Department's authority ended. CP 105. Johnson argued that the Department's alternative grounds failed because the statutory scheme did not authorize suspension of a driver's license for failure to pay a criminal traffic fine. CP 106-08. The parties agreed that there were no material facts in dispute and the issues could be resolved as a matter of law. VRP, April 4, 2014, at 29:10-13.

After hearing oral argument, the superior court continued the hearing and requested additional briefing from the parties on the legislative history of the Act. VRP, April 4, 2014, at 30:10-16. After reviewing the additional briefing, the superior court rendered its decision in open court, without further argument. VRP, June 27, 2014, at 32.

The superior court determined that this was a proper case for a writ of prohibition because Johnson had no other adequate remedy at law.

CP 247:25-26; VRP, April 4, 2014, at 29:20-30:3; VRP, June 27, 2014,

¹⁰ Note that the Department treats failure to respond, appear, comply, or pay as simply different types of failure to pay. See CP 38 (referring to them as "categories" of "non-payment issues").

at 32:20-33:7. However, the superior court denied the writ and dismissed the petition, holding that the amendments were prospective only and that Johnson was time-barred from arguing his suspension for failure to pay a criminal fine was unauthorized. CP 248; VRP, June 27, 2014, at 33:19-21, 35:19-24; VRP, April 4, 2014, at 30:7-9.

Johnson appealed as a matter of right, requesting this Court accept direct review. CP 251.

4. Summary of Argument

The superior court erred in dismissing Johnson's petition for writ of prohibition on summary judgment. The Department has acted outside its authority in imposing two separate suspensions of Johnson's license.

Part 5.3 demonstrates that the Act removed the Department's authority to withhold a driver's license or privilege for failure to respond, appear, comply, or pay for a nonmoving violation, effective June 1, 2013. The termination of the Department's authority applies to terminate all such suspensions, whenever initiated. This is a prospective application of the Act. But even if it could be viewed as a retroactive application, it is the correct result because the Act is remedial and termination of prior suspensions furthers the purposes of the Act.

Part 5.4 shows that the Department has no statutory authority to withhold a driver's license or privilege for failure to pay a criminal traffic fine. The reasoning of the court in *State v. Johnson* cannot apply to authorize suspension for failure to pay a fine imposed for conviction of a traffic crime.

Finally, Part 5.5 argues that the superior court did not abuse its discretion when it correctly ruled that Johnson had no other plain, speedy, and adequate remedy at law. The Department has waived any challenge to this ruling by failing to cross-appeal the superior court's ruling.

5. Argument

5.1 Summary Judgment Orders Are Reviewed De Novo.

This Court reviews summary judgment orders de novo. Schmitt v. Langenour, 162 Wn. App. 397, 404, 256 P.3d 1235 (2011). The Court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court. Labriola v. Pollard Group, Inc., 152 Wn.2d 828, 832, 100 P.3d 791 (2004). Summary judgment should be granted when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the issues can be resolved as a matter of law. CR 56(c). The court is free to grant summary judgment in favor of the nonmoving party where the nonmoving party would be entitled to judgment as a matter of law on the undisputed facts before the court. See Impecoven v. Dep't of Revenue, 120 Wn.2d 357, 365, 841 P.2d 752 (1992) (granting summary judgment in favor of the nonmoving party where material facts were not disputed).

5.2 Review of Petition for Writ of Prohibition

The purpose of a writ of prohibition is "to prohibit judicial, legislative, executive, or administrative acts if the official or body to whom it is directed is acting in excess of its power." Stafne v. Snohomish County, 156 Wn. App. 667, 687, 234 P.3d 225 (2010); RCW 7.16.290. A writ of prohibition is proper where (1) the body to whom it is directed is acting or about to act in excess of its jurisdiction and (2) the petitioner has no plain, speedy, and adequate remedy in the ordinary course of law. Brower v. Charles, 82 Wn. App. 53, 57, 914 P.2d 1202 (1996). Whether the agency or official has authority to act is a question of law reviewed de novo; whether there is no

plain, speedy, and adequate remedy is reviewed for abuse of discretion. See River Park Square, L.L.C. v. Miggins, 143 Wn.2d 68, 76, 17 P.3d 1178 (2001).

5.3 The Department of Licensing no longer has any authority to maintain prior suspensions for failure to pay a fine for a non-moving violation.

From the very beginning of this conflict, Johnson has asked the Department where is its authority to continue to suspend a driver's license for failure to pay a fine for a non-moving violation? Under the Act, there is none. The Department cannot point to any statutory language that allows it to maintain prior suspensions where it is no longer authorized to impose new suspensions. The Department treats the prior suspensions like criminal sentences, apparently believing that as long as the suspension was proper when it was initially imposed, it continues to be proper regardless of any later change in the law.

As will be shown below, the Department's interpretation of its authority is incorrect. Under accepted principles governing the authority of executive agencies, the Department only has that authority that is granted to it by statute. After the Act, the Department no longer has statutory authority to suspend for failure to pay for a nonmoving violation. That change in statutory authority applies to all suspensions, regardless of when they were initiated. Even if this could be described as producing a retroactive effect, it is proper here because the Act is remedial. Termination of prior suspensions is also consistent with the legislative purpose of the Act.

5.3.1 The Department no longer has statutory authority to withhold the driving privilege through suspension for failure to pay for a nonmoving violation.

Administrative agencies, such as the Department of Licensing, "are creatures of the Legislature." Skagit Surveyors & Eng'rs, L.L.C. u Friends of Skagit Cnty., 135 Wn.2d 542, 558, 958 P.2d 962 (1998). Agencies have no inherent or common-law authority. Id.; Ass'n of Wash. Bus. v. Dep't of Revenue, 155 Wn.2d 430, 445, 120 P.3d 46 (2005). They have only those powers expressly granted to them by statute and those necessarily implied from the statutory delegation of authority. Tuerk v. Dep't of Licensing, 123 Wn.2d 120, 124-25, 864 P.2d 1382 (1994). Agencies are not permitted to act outside of their legislatively delegated authority. Alpine Lakes Prot. Soc'y v. Dep't of Ecology, 135 Wn. App. 376, 394, 144 P.3d 385 (2006).

The rule of "necessary implication" includes only those powers that are essential to the declared purpose of the legislation—not simply convenient, but indispensable to carrying out the legislative purpose. In re Impoundment of Chevrolet Truck, 148 Wn.2d 145, 156 n.10, 60 P.3d 53 (2002). Washington courts have been reluctant to find agency authority to impose a particular remedy where express or implied authority is not clearly set forth in the statutory language. Skagit Surveyors, 135 Wn.2d at 565. The courts do not defer to an agency the power to determine the scope of its own authority. Elec. Lightwave v. Utils. & Transp. Comm'n, 123 Wn.2d 530, 540, 869 P.2d 1045 (1994).

A license to drive is an important and valuable property interest.

Bell v. Burson, 402 U.S. 535, 539, 91 S. Ct. 1586, 29 L. Ed. 2d 90 (1971); State v.

Dokon, 138 Wn.2d 773, 776-77, 982 P.2d 100 (1999). Suspension of a driver's license is a deprivation that must be authorized by statute and comport with due process. Redmond v. Moore, 151 Wn.2d 664, 670, 91 P.3d 875 (2004);

State v. Scheffel, 82 Wn.2d 872, 880, 514 P.2d 1052 (1973).

The Department's authority to withhold the driving privilege or license through suspension for failure to pay a traffic fine is set forth in RCW 46.20.291:

The department is authorized to suspend the license of a driver upon a showing by its records or other sufficient evidence that the licensee ... (5) Has failed to respond to a notice of traffic infraction, failed to appear at a requested hearing, violated a written promise to appear in court, or has failed to comply with the terms of a notice of traffic infraction or citation, as provided in RCW 46.20.289;

Failure to pay the fine for an infraction falls under "failed to comply," by operation of the cross-reference, "as provided in RCW 46.20.289," and that section's cross-reference to RCW 46.63.110(6), which deals with imposition and collection of fines for traffic infractions. See State v. Johnson, 179 Wn.2d 534, 546-47, 315 P.3d 1090 (2014) (analyzing identical statutory language in the DWLS statute). Thus, RCW 46.20.291 authorizes the Department to suspend a driver's license for failure to pay a fine for a traffic infraction, subject to any limitations "as provided in RCW 46.20.289."

The Act amended both RCW 46.20.289 and RCW 46.63.110(6), limiting the Department's suspension authority to only those cases involving moving violations:

The department shall suspend all driving privileges of a person when the department receives notice from a court under RCW 46.63.070(6), 46.63.110(6), or 46.64.025 that the person has failed to respond to a notice of traffic infraction for a moving violation, failed to appear at a requested hearing for a moving violation, violated a written promise to appear in court for a notice of infraction for a moving violation, or has failed to comply with the terms of a notice of traffic infraction or citation for a moving violation...

RCW 46.20.289.

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