RECEIVED BY E-MA

NO. 906

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ł

STEPHEN CHRISS JOHNSON,

Appellant,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF LICENSING and PAT KOHLER, in her official capacity,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

SCHUYLER B. RUE Assistant Attorney General WSBA # 42167 Office of the Attorney General Licensing & Admin. Law Division PO Box 40110 Olympia, WA 98504-0110 (360) 586-2588 LALOIyEF@atg.wa.gov OID # 91029

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

This Court has said that "[i]n the absence of a clear declaration by the legislature regarding retroactivity of an amendment, it may be helpful to characterize changes to a statute as 'clarifying' or 'restorative' or 'curative' or 'remedial' to assist in determining legislative intent." *Hale v. Wellpinit Sch. Dist. No. 49*, 165 Wn.2d 494, 508, 198 P.3d 1021 (2009). The principle that the legislative intent is the primary consideration comports with the familiar maxim that "the court's fundamental objective in construing a statute is to ascertain and carry out the legislature's intent." *Lake v. Woodcreek Homeowners Ass'n*, 169 Wn.2d 516, 526, 243 P.3d 1283 (2010) (internal citations omitted). As noted above, the statute's plain language does include a "clear declaration by the legislature regarding retroactivity" – namely, that the statute should not apply retroactively. But even if the Court were to consider the statute's purpose, it should conclude that the statute does not operate retroactively.

An amendment is deemed remedial and applies retroactively when it relates to practice, procedure, or remedies, and does not affect a substantive or vested right. *In re F.D. Processing, Inc.*, 119 Wn.2d 452, 463, 832 P.2d 1303 (1992). Johnson does not contend that the amendment relates to practice or procedure. Importantly, the amendment only limits the necessary conditions for a new suspension. That change does not affect the procedure or practice for transmitting notices to the Department from the court or change the Department's practices for implementing and releasing suspensions.

The general rule is that a remedial statute is retroactive when it relates to practice, procedure, and remedies but a remedy has not been so loosely defined as to include any legislative attempt to fix a problem in a former law. Rather, when specifically examining whether a statute is remedial, Washington courts have said that "remedial statutes, in general, afford a remedy, or better or forward remedies already existing for the enforcement of rights and the redress of injuries." *Haddenham v. State*, 87 Wn.2d 145, 148, 550 P.2d 9 (1976).

Generally, there are aspects of RCW 46.20.289 itself that can be considered remedial because it affords counties a coercive mechanism for enforcing the payment of a penalty or fine. However, the *amendment* to RCW 46.20.289 is not remedial because it does not provide a process or procedure for drivers to remediate an existing suspension. As the superior court properly ruled, major factor of reform provided by the *amendments* to RCW 46.20.289 was to alleviate the burden on law-enforcement on pursuing driving while license suspended cases. *Superior Court's Ruling*, RP (June 27, 2014) at 35, *See also* Senate Bill Report on S.B. 6284, 62nd Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. Feb. 1. 2012), CP at 139; and Judicial Impact Fiscal Note to P S S.B. 6284, 62nd Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2012) published on February 3, 2012 (prepared by Admin. Office of the Courts), CP at 185.

Johnson relies on *State v. Heath*, 85 Wn.2d 196, 532 P.2d 621 (1975). Appellant's Brief at 22. However, the superior court correctly concluded that *State v. Heath* does not require a remedial classification of the amendments to RCW 46.20.289. *See* RP (June 27, 2014) at 35 ("I find that this case is more similar to the case of *St. v McClendon*, which is 131 Wn.2d 853 – it's a 1997 case – rather than the *State v. Heath* case, which is what was argued by Mr. Johnson.")

In *State v. Heath*, the Court considered whether a driver whose license was revoked could benefit from a new law permitting a court to issue a stay of the revocation, if the driver could demonstrate that he was obtaining treatment for alcoholism. *Heath*, 85 Wn.2d at 197. The Court determined that the purpose was remedial because it allowed alcoholics to receive treatment rather than deprive them of their driving privileges. *Id.* at 198.

While the statute in *Heath* was silent with respect to whether a currently revoked driver could benefit from a stay, the legislature explicitly made a stay available to drivers facing a revocation: "[a] proviso was added permitting 'a judge' to stay a revocation order where the offenses were the result of alcoholism for which the offender is obtaining treatment." *McLendon*, 85 Wn.2d at 197.

Unlike *Heath*, there was no new remedy established in the amendments to RCW 46.20.289 by which Johnson can avoid his suspension. There is no new avenue – like the stay in *Heath* – through which Johnson could have asked the Department to set aside the suspension. If the legislature had intended to remediate failure to pay suspensions already in existence, it would have either provided a mechanism for releasing such suspensions or would have provided explicit direction on releasing existing non-moving failure to pay suspensions.

In support of Johnson's claim of a broad, remedial purpose of "termination of all suspensions" related to non-moving violations, Johnson offers the comments of an individual legislator. Appellant's Brief at 23 (quoting Senator Kline). However, a court cannot rely on affidavits or comments of individual legislators to establish legislative intent because the intent of an individual legislator may not have been the intent of the legislative body that passed the Act. *Johnson v. Cont'l W., Inc.*, 99 Wn.2d 555, 560–61, 663 P.2d 482 (1983). Even if the court wanted to rely on the statements of Senator Kline cited by Johnson, none of his statements explicitly address what would happen to pre-existing suspensions.

This history suggests that a primary reason for the passage of the bill was the goal to save local governments money in prosecuting driving while licenses suspended offenses while continuing to ensure that drivers

faced suspensions for safety-related offenses. *See, e.g.*, Senate Bill Report on S.B. 6284, 62nd Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. Feb. 1. 2012), CP at 139 (summary of public testimony in favor of the bill: "this is about whether the department suspends for non-safety related actions"); Judicial Impact Fiscal Note to P S S.B. 6284, 62nd Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2012) published on February 3, 2012 (prepared by Admin. Office of the Courts) CP at 185 (assuming savings to the State based on a reduction in driving while license suspended filings). That legislative intent is supported by the ultimate language of the bill which reduced the number of new suspension but continued to include moving violations as offenses requiring suspension.

While the legislative history shows some motivation for the bill to assist those who cannot pay, the primary intent seemed to be saving money and conserving law enforcement resources while preserving public safety. In any event, Johnson has failed to show any legislative history supporting intent to reinstate already-suspended licenses, and the language of the statute shows that this was not the intent.

C. A Continued Suspension for Non-Compliance With the 2009 Misdemeanor Fine Is Warranted Based on *State v. Johnson* Because Johnson has Failed to Comply With the Terms of a Citation

As addressed below in Section V. D, the Court should not even consider Johnson's argument that his second license suspension was improper because he failed to challenge his suspension when it occurred. But even if the Court did consider that issue, a continued suspension for non-compliance with the 2009 misdemeanor fine is warranted based on *State v. Johnson*, 179 Wn.2d at 546–47, because Johnson has failed to comply with the terms of a citation.

The superior court correctly determined that Johnson was not entitled to a writ of prohibition releasing his 2009 criminal suspension for failure to pay. Johnson's license was appropriately suspended based on the Department's receipt of a 2009 notice from Lewis County District Court that he had failed to make required payment of fines and court costs. CP at 26. The amendments to RCW 46.20.289 do not apply to this suspension because the suspension arose from a moving violation – a driving while license suspended conviction. WAC 308-104-160. Johnson argues that "the Department's authority to suspend for failure to pay extends only to failure to pay a fine imposed by a court for an *infraction*." Appellant's Brief at 25. In essence, he urges the Court to define the same phrase in RCW 46.20.289 – "failed to comply with the terms of a notice of traffic infraction or citation" – in two different manners, one way for notices of infractions and another for citations. That would be an absurd result.

The Johnson court held that a failure to pay a penalty is a failure to comply with the terms of a notice of traffic infraction based on the entire statutory scheme and the fact that a notice of traffic infraction is not a document that is "frozen in time." *Johnson*, 179 Wn. 2d at 546–47.

The Johnson court emphasized two canons of statutory construction in construing the plain meaning of the phrase "failure to comply with the terms of a notice of traffic infraction." First, a court should not "interpret [a] statute in a way that would render any statutory language superfluous or nonsensical." *Id.* Second, in ascertaining plain meaning, the court looks to "all that the legislature has said in the statute and related statutes." *Id.* at 542.

Those canons are of particular use in this case. The *Johnson* court sought to avoid rendering superfluous the cross-references contained within RCW 46.20.289 and the statute criminalizing driving while license suspended, RCW 46.20.342(1)(c)(iv). In *Johnson*, the cross-reference contained in RCW 46.20.289 to RCW 46.63.110 evinced an intent that

suspensions were warranted for monetary obligations arising from traffic infractions.

At the time Johnson's 2009 suspension went into effect, former RCW 46.20.289² provided that:

The department shall suspend all driving privileges of a person when the department receives notice from a court under RCW 46.63.070(6), 46.63.110(6), or 46.64.025 that the person has failed to respond to a notice of traffic infraction, failed to appear at a requested hearing, violated a written promise to appear in court for a notice of infraction, or has failed to comply with the terms of a notice of traffic infraction or citation....

The phrase "failed to comply with the terms of a citation" was intended as a catch-all provision requiring a person to resolve all obligations attendant to a violation of the traffic laws. The cross-reference to the infraction provisions found in RCW 46.63.110(6) – while not directly applicable to a criminal citation – is a related statute that provides important context to the legislature's meaning of the phrase. Based on that statute, the legislative scheme demonstrates the intent with respect to criminal traffic citations that a person fulfills both appearance *and* monetary obligations connected with any traffic violation to avoid a license suspension.

Johnson narrowly construes a failure to comply with a citation to not include a person's failure to pay a fine, but only a failure to appear

 $^{^2}$ The 2013 amendments have no substantive effect because driving while license suspended is a moving violation. WAC 308-104-160(10).

based exclusively on the cross-reference to RCW 46.64.025. Appellant's Brief at 29. Johnson's interpretation of the statutory scheme reaches absurd results. According to his interpretation, the legislature intended suspensions for non-payment of obligations for less serious infractions but did not intend suspensions for non-payment of more serious offenses like DUIs and reckless driving. Courts avoid constructions of statutes that yield unlikely or absurd results. *State v. Huffman*, ____ Wn. App. __, 340 P.3d 903, 905 (2014) (citation omitted).

Johnson's interpretation also renders the failure to comply phrase superfluous for citations. Former RCW 46.20.289 provides a separate basis for suspension for a person who has "failed to appear at a requested hearing." The citation itself provided Johnson with two options. He could either pay the bail forfeiture amount or appear in court. CP at 94. Without receipt of bail forfeiture payment, the court would have required an appearance. Without an appearance, Johnson would have "failed to appear at a requested hearing." Accordingly, the phrase "failed to comply with the terms of a citation" would be superfluous because a failure to comply would also always be a failure to appear. But, the failure to comply language has separate meaning that must be given effect and was intended as a catch-all to capture a person's failure to pay a fine. All

statutory language must be given effect with no part rendered superfluous. State v. Rodriguez, 183 Wn. App. 947, 955, 335 P.3d 448 (2014).

Johnson points to differences in the legal proceedings governing the disposition of misdemeanor citations in an effort to distinguish it from a notice of traffic infraction. Appellant's Brief at 28 ("[t]he numerous and significant differences between a notice of infraction and a criminal traffic citation, including the full panoply of constitutional protections afforded to a criminal defendant, bar any application of the Johnson court's reasoning to the terms of a citation.").

In considering the effect of the notice of traffic infraction, the *Johnson* court noted that the notice of traffic infraction is "not frozen in time." *Johnson*, 179 Wn.2d at 547. The *Johnson* court recognized that on the face of a notice of traffic infraction a penalty is imposed and a person can request a hearing to challenge the penalty or simply resolve the case by remitting payment. *Id.* at 547–48. Traffic citations issued pursuant to RCW 46.64.010 do not simply initiate a case. Like infractions, citations are not static documents and continue to have a legally significant life even after service upon a defendant. For example, the face of the uniform citation issued to Johnson contained a bail forfeiture amount that could have been remitted by him to resolve his case rather than contesting the matter. CP at 93, 94. The copy of the uniform citation that was delivered

to the Department contains the amount of the fine imposed after trial at the bottom of the citation. CP at 33. Citation booklets are provided to law enforcement agencies in quadruplicate. RCW 46.64.010(1). Like a notice of traffic infraction, a citation does not cease to have legal effect based solely on an appearance of the defendant.

... the original or copy of such traffic citation may be disposed of only by trial in the court or other official action by a judge of the court, including forfeiture of the bail or by the deposit of sufficient bail with or payment of a fine to the traffic violations bureau by the person to whom such traffic citation has been issued by the traffic enforcement officer."

RCW 46.64.010(1) (emphasis added).

The ultimate disposition of a citation cannot occur prior to the payment of a fine and – according to this provision – can continue to govern the case until after trial. More importantly, the provision provides that the disposition of the citation is often measured, not by a person's appearance, but by compliance with a monetary obligation.

In this case, there is no evidence that the Lewis County District Court has made a decision to ultimately dispose of the citation. There is no evidence that Johnson has remitted the fine amount contained on Department's copy of the citation. Additionally, the Lewis County District Court has not notified the Department that the case has been

adjudicated per the requirements of RCW 46.20.289. Johnson has failed to comply with the terms of a citation and thus is not entitled to have his license reinstated.

D. Johnson is Not Entitled to a Writ Because He Could Have Raised The Issues in this Lawsuit at an Administrative Review and in the Lewis County District Court

In order to obtain a writ of prohibition, Johnson must show that he lacks a plain, speedy and adequate procedure to contest his failure to pay suspensions. See *Skagit County Pub. Hosp. Dist. No. 304*, 177 Wn.2d at 722–23. Johnson had multiple remedies available to him prior to this suit and his writ should be denied on this separate basis. Johnson argues that the Court cannot consider this issue because the Department did not cross-appeal the superior court's ruling with respect to the superior court's determination that an adequate remedy did not exist to challenge the suspensions. Appellant's Brief at 31. However, the Court can affirm on any basis supported in the record below. *See, e.g., State v. Bobic*, 140 Wn.2d 250, 257, 996 P.2d 610 (2000); *Ensberg v. Nelson*, 178 Wn. App. 879, 890 n. 7, 320 P.3d 97 (2013). Johnson's failure to exhaust remedies was raised to the superior court by the Department in briefing and at oral argument and is supported by the record. CP at 41, RP (April 4, 2014) at 3–5.

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